FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/29/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/29/2023 10:02 AM

102683-8

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

Appellate Court No: **848011-I**
COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

JINRU BIAN,

Petitioner,

v.

OLGA SMIRNOVA,

Respondent.

Corrected
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Jinru Bian
pro se Petitioner
818 Hilliary Lane
Aurora, OH 44202
Phone: 360-318-4470
Email: jbian98@gmail.com

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This petition requests to review what constitutes a reasonable attorney fees for equitable and just. There are three sections (blocks of hours) of attorney fees that the Opinion affirmed and that Bian petitions this Court review.

Section (Block) I

- A. Did the Court err in affirming the awarding attorney fees on hours spent on the unproductive effort and unsuccessful claim, because of prior

reversal by the Court of Appeals, (also **without any analysis or comment on it**), which is in conflict with that “[t]he court must then discount hours spent on ‘unsuccessful claims, duplicated effort, or otherwise unproductive time’”? Berryman v. Metcalf, 177 Wn. App. 644, 660, 662, 312 P.3d 745 (2013) (quoting Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 100 Wn.2d 581, 597, 675 P.2d 193 (1983))? Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), review is proper.

- B. The fact “**without any analysis or comment on it**” (above) is in conflict with the opinion: “A trial court must support its fee award by entering findings of fact and conclusions of law. The court's findings must do more than give lip service to the word ‘reasonable’. The findings must show how the court resolved disputed issues of fact and the conclusions must explain the court's analysis”? Cedar Grove Composting, Inc. v. City of Marysville, 188 Wn. App. 695, 354 P.3d 249, (2015). Under RAP 13.4(b)(2), review is proper.

Section (Block) II

- C. Did the Court err in affirming the awarding attorney fees on hours on another independent and closed case (where no prevail party and had **different factual base** from that in this case for Smirnova to prevail)?

There is **no rule, statute or published opinion cited allowing** or guiding an award by one court to another independent and closed case where no party prevailed. Actually, CR 41b(2)(A), by which the independent case was dismissed, indicates: the dismiss is “without prejudice and

without cost to any party”. Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), review is proper.

- D. Did the Court err in affirming the awarding attorney fees on hours on another independent case **without going through its base facts** (different from the base in this case) in the closed case, which is in conflict with RCW 7.28.083(3) that requires “**considering all the facts**” before awarding attorney fees? Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), review is proper.
- E. Did the Court err in affirming the awarding attorney fees with no finding nor conclusion of law, in the judgments or in the Opinion, on the “**new facts well beyond**” (Smirnirov’s words) the record in this case, which is in conflict with the authority that “[a] trial court must support its fee award by entering findings of fact and conclusions of law”? Cedar Grove Composting, Inc. Under RAP 13.4(b)(2), review is justified.

Block (Section) III

- F. Did the Court err in affirming the awarding attorney fees on hours on “mergers” which were based on **existence of adverse possession title**, a fact that is against the factual base that there was **no adverse possession title** (a finding by the Court) and thus the awarding is in conflict with the authority that “[t]he hours reasonably expended **must** be spent on claims having a ‘**common core of facts** and related legal theories’”? Chuong Van Pham v. City of Seattle, Seattle City Light, 159 Wash.2d 527, 538, 151

P.3d 976 (2007). Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), review is proper.

- G. Did the Court err in affirming the awarding attorney fees on the hours spent on “mergers” that were new theories in WA State and **not authorized** for attorney fees, which is in conflict with the authority that “the attorney fees **must** be segregated between those efforts for which fees can be awarded and those for **which fees are not authorized**”? Hume v. Am. Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 880 P.2d 988, (1994). Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), review is proper.
- H. Did the Court err in affirming the awarding attorney fees on hours on “mergers” on which the hours were “**unproductive**”, “**unnecessary**” and “**unsuccessful**” and, thus, the awarding is in conflict with Chuong Van Pham? Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), review is proper.
- I. Did the Court err in using a “new rule” for Discountable Hours based on whether the hours spent on “counterclaim vs. affirmative defense”, **not on** “wasted (unproductive, unsuccessful and unnecessary) or useful”? The former is in conflict with the latter that is required by Berryman and Chuong Van Pham? Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2) and (4), review is proper.
- J. Did the Court err in affirming the awarding attorney fees for equitable and just **only** by the dispute size and the litigation length **without examining or concluding whether there is any “wasted” hour**, which is in conflict with above authorities and that “[u]nder the lodestar method

of determining reasonable fees, the court **must first ‘exclude** from the requested hours any wasteful or duplicative hours and any hours pertaining to unsuccessful theories or claims’”? Target Nat’l Bank v. Higgins, 180 Wn. App. 165, 321 P.3d 1215, (2014) (quoting Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 434, 957 P.2d 632 (1998))? Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2) and (4), review is proper.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jinru Bian (Appellant / Plaintiff) bought the property at 906 38th St, Bellingham, WA, in 2012 [CP 27]. Olga Smirnova, Bian’s south neighbor, did a survey in 2017, finding the boundary by an old fence was on the south of the survey boundary [CP 28, ¶ 6]. Smirnova then removed the fence and built a new fence on the north of the old fence [CP 29, ¶ 12-14].

Because of no response to Bian’s inquiring, in August 2018, Bian filed a complaint (# 18-2-01455-37, “the 18-case”) claiming adverse possession of the strip based on the fact that his predecessor, Margret Erhardt, had owned the Bian property from 1992 to 2007 and adversely possessed the strip. The 18-case was closed [CP 264, line 17] in 2020 by Smirnova’s action

of “COMPELLING ENTRY OF DISMISSAL” (see in Smirnova's attorney bill [CP 250, 11/1/2019]), while both sides discussing a trial date for summary judgment [CP 250].

After the closure of the 18-case, not a willingness of Bian (but he had to passively accept it), Bian filed another complaint (# 20-2-00253-37, this case) in February 2020. Because there had been **no genuine issue of the material facts known in the yearly discovery of the 18-case**, Bian filed a motion for summary judgment in March 2020. In May 2020, Smirnova filed a cross-motion for summary judgement and a declaration [CP 30, 42] creating a **new** story that the old fence removed in 2017 was a temporary fence built in 2009 and Smirnova **demolished** the “original fence” of Erhardt time in 2007. Thus, by this **new** story of “original fence”, there was **no adverse possession**.

In the same filing, Smirnova also claimed that there **was the adverse possession** but the adverse possession title perfected to Erhardt / Bian property in 2002 was “merged” back

[CP 83, line 15] when Mr. Kantor owned both properties in 2007 for six months. The merger claim was adopted from merging an easement when one owner owns two properties. Another new theory [CP121, ¶ 1] by Smirnova was that although the strip was vested to the Bian property by adverse possession in 2002, since it was not referred at the title conveyances, the vested strip was divested (another merger). The trial Court granted Smirnova's motion and denied Bian's motion and motion for reconsideration afterwards in September, 2020. Bian appealed the denying then.

Afterwards, Smirnova filed motion for awarding attorney's fees and cost [CP 246]. The first proposed order and judgment in 2020 was \$34,226.28 [CP 260], which included time preparing the motion, affidavit bill, proposed order and judgment. Later, there were disputes on what constitutes reasonable attorney fees. A (second proposed) judgment of \$39,378.89 for the awarding was entered in March 2021 [CP 387]. The increment of \$5152.61 from the first presentation was spent on disputing the bill. Bian

appealed this order awarding attorney fees. The Court granted a consolidation of the two appeals for the two orders.

In October, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion [CP 392] (No. 81937-2-I, “the Opinion-1”) that affirmed the granting Smirnova’s motion for summary judgment and reversed the second order (for attorney’s fee award).

Bian petitioned the Supreme Court to review the affirming the order granting Smirnova’s summary judgment. Smirnova petitioned for review of the reversal of the order for attorney fee award. Both petitions were denied and a sanction of \$10,700.00 was imposed on Bian because Bian moved Smirnova to provide material evidence to show there were concrete footings of the old fence posts that Smirnova had claimed their existence but Bian has never seen any (and did not believe the new story was true for the summary judgment).

After the mandate from reviewing Courts, on November 2022, the trial Court entered a judgment [CP 476]. (2022- Judgment), setting Bian as Debtor for \$50,078.89 including the

same in the reversed order, but **no addressing any of the items** that Bian concerned in his response. Bian filed appeal for the 2022-Judgment because of the no addressing any of the items (hours) that should be discounted by the published opinion:

“A trial court must support its fee award by entering findings of fact and conclusions of law. The court's findings must do more than give lip service to the word ‘reasonable’. The findings must show how the court resolved disputed issues of fact and the conclusions must explain the court's analysis.” Cedar Grove Composting, Inc. “The court should discount hours spent on unsuccessful claims, duplicated or wasted effort, or otherwise unproductive time.” Chuong Van Pham

The trial Court entered another judgment on April 2023 (2023-Judgment), after a hearing for a postjudgment motion filed by Bian. The 2023-Judgment did not improve Bian’s position but added a new part from interests for the reversed (2021) judgment and for 2022-Judgment. Bian filed Amendment to Notice of Appeal for 2023-Judgment for the new part, following the instructive letter from the Court.

V. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

A. The affirming the awarding attorney fees for

hours on unsuccessful claim that was reversed by the Court because the awarding order had reversible errors presented by Smirnova, which is unproductive efforts, without excluding or denying the hours being unsuccessful or wasted, is in conflict with the published opinions

The Opinion cited: “[t]he court must then discount hours spent on ‘unsuccessful claims, duplicated effort, or otherwise unproductive time.’ Berryman v. Metcalf, 177 Wn. App. 644, 660, 662, 312 P.3d 745 (2013). (quoting Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 100 Wn.2d 581, 597, 675 P.2d 193 (1983)).”

The Opinion-1 in 2021 reversed the order granting Smirnova attorney’s fees. The reversal was because the order had reversible errors presented by Smirnova and the reversal makes the hours spent on the fee claim (2020-2021) was unsuccessful and the efforts on disputed fee claim (after completion of defense of land title) **unproductive or wasted**.

1) On remand, the new (2022 and 2023) judgments erroneously included the hours on the unsuccessful claim on attorney fees dispute that was unproductive efforts. The inclusion and the affirming the inclusion **are conflict with** the opinions of Berryman and Chuong Van Pham. Under RAP

13.4(b)(1) and (2), review is proper

2) Further, the trial Court had **no addressing on the concern** Bian presented for this block, which is a reversible error and a manifestly abuse its discretion in new judgments because “[a] trial court's failure to address such concerns is reversible error.” Berryman. The Opinion having no analysis nor comment on the concern and on the non-addressing of this block of hours is also conflict with the opinion of Berryman, and actually vacates the matter of the right of Bian to civil appeal on this issue because the Opinion is empty on this appealed issue. RAP 6.1 Appeal as a Matter of Right. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Bian does not understand that the Opinion cited the Berryman Court’s opinion, while ignoring it on the specific issue even though the opinion uses the firming word “**must**”, and that the Opinion or the judgments did not exclude these hours spent on “unsuccessful claims, or unproductive efforts”, as presented, which are required to discount by the authorities. The key in this section is that it cannot be equitable and just for Bian to pay

for the reversible errors committed by Smirnova.

3) The “new rule” set in this section is that awarding attorney fees on unsuccessful and unproductive hours may not need a finding and conclusion of law, but by not addressing the concern for it in judgments but with a conclusory statement, which is **in conflict with** above authorities and that: “A trial court **must support** its fee award by entering findings of fact and conclusions of law. The court's findings must do more than give lip service to the word ‘reasonable’. The findings must show how the court resolved disputed issues of fact and the conclusions must explain the court's analysis.” Cedar Grove Composting, Inc. Under RAP 13.4(b)(2), review is proper.

B. The affirming the awarding attorney fees on hours on an independent and closed case without “CONSIDERING ALL THE FACTS” [required by RCW 7.28.083(3)] in the case that had no story of “original fence” (by its yearly discovery), the base for Smirnova to prevail in this case, which is in conflict with the cited opinions and the statute.

Under RCW 7.28.083(3):

“The court may award all or a portion of costs and

reasonable attorneys' fees to the prevailing party if, **after considering all the facts**, the court **determines such an award is equitable and just.**"

The closed 18-case (Whatcom County # 18-2-01455-37) was an **independent** case (from this case). One of reasons for the **independency** was because the 18-case had **no** story of "original fence" which was the **SOLE** base for Smirnova to prevail in this case. Hours were spent in the 18-case on "**new facts well beyond**" [Smirnova's words, CP 461, line 19] the **record** of this case, which **excluded** the existence of "original fence". Thus, by its **yearly written discovery**, up to its set trial **date**, Smirnova could not prevail in the 18-case [Bian's Brief, P.23]. The hours spent were **unproductive** or **wasted** because of the "**error**" that Smirnova **hid the critical factual story (assume it was true)** in the **yearly discovery**, or the story of "original fence" was **created** in this case. Thus, the trial Court **abused** its **discretion** manifestly **awarding** fees for the 18-case with **no ground and no reason**, because "[the] **discretionary decision** rests on 'untenable grounds' or is based on 'untenable

reasons' if the trial court relies on **unsupported facts**". Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 132 P.3d 115, (2006).

1) There is **no statute, nor authority** (cited) allowing one court to award attorney fees to another independent case, where **no party prevailed**, while the trial Court did. "An abuse of discretion occurs when a decision is 'manifestly unreasonable, or ... if the trial court relies on **unsupported facts** or applies the **wrong** legal standard". Id. If it would allow the award by one court to another, procedure questions are whether the current court should (must) review the factual base in the independent case (or not), and whether the award should be based on current base or on the (different) base in the independent case. However, a published opinion held that establishing a base for attorney fees in one case did not necessarily establish the same base in another case even for **the same issue** (and its volunteer dismissal). Park Place Motors, Ltd. v. Elite Cornerstone Constr., LLC, 18 Wn. App. 2d 748, 493 P.3d 136 (2021). Similarly, Smirnova did not prevail in

the 18-case for attorney fee award because the 18-case was an independent case with **different base** from this case (and different court and case #). “Without a judgment, there is no prevailing party. [Defendant] was not entitled to attorney fees upon dismissal at the district court”. AllianceOne Receivables Mgmt., Inc. v. Lewis, 180 Wn.2d 389, 325 P.3d 904, (2014).

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), review is proper.

2) RCW 7.28.083(3) requires “**considering all the facts**” before an award to be equitable and just. Because the judgments cited no document from the 18-case, the trial Court considered no fact in the 18-case, especially the “**new facts well beyond**” the record in this case, and the Opinion had no comment on the “**new facts**” and the **non-considering of the fact** that a yearly discovery resulted in no story of “original fence” which was the **sole** base for Smirnova to prevail in this case, the awarding attorney fees for 18-case and its affirming are a **modification of and in conflict with** RCW 7.28.083(3).

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), review is proper.

3) The fact that no finding and no conclusion of law, either in the judgments or in the Opinion, for the “**new facts well beyond**” the record in this case while awarding fees for them is in conflict with the opinion that “[a] trial court **must support** its fee award by entering findings of fact and conclusions of law.” Cedar Grove Composting, Inc. Under RAP 13.4(b)(2), review is justified.

4) There has been **no** explanation and **no** addressing, in the judgments and the Opinion as **why the yearly written discovery efforts** resulted in **no** story of “original fence” in the 18-case, while it was created later in this case as the **sole** base for Smirnova to prevail. The fruits of the efforts that were wasted and unproductive were clearly because Smirnova **hid the critical fact** (assume the story was true).

5) The closure was by the efforts of “**compelling entry of dismissal**” of Smirnova (see Smirnova's attorney bill [CP 250, 11/1/2019]), while Smirnova did not request a right, if any, at its closure. Actually, CR 41b(2)(A), under which the

18-case was closed and which was cited by Bian to show that the 18-case could continue if Smirnova did not act “compelling entry of dismissal” since Bian already set a trial date for it, defines: the closure was “**without prejudice and without cost to any party**”. The dismissal without prejudice shows that the 18-case was closed with no prevail part, as also defined by the court of Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft, 165 Wn.2d 481, 200 P.3d 683, (2009). Thus, award fees for the case with no prevail party is in conflict with CR 41b(2)(A) and RCW 7.28.083(3). Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4), review is justified.

Further, there is no base of equitable and just for Bian to pay for the **factual base** that was against the base in this case and the “**error**” that Smirniova committed “concealment” of the key fact. “A discretionary decision rests on ‘untenable grounds’ or is based on ‘untenable reasons’ if the trial court relies on unsupported facts”. Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc.

C. The affirming the awarding attorney fees for hours on mergers that claimed to alter vested title with no COMMON CORE FACT with this

case, were unsuccessful, unproductive, or unnecessary, and unauthorized for attorney fees. The affirming may set a new standard for discountable hours, different from that in published opinions.

To merger a title one must admit there existed the title before merger it. Thus, the pre-admission of the adverse possession title is the condition for merging the existed title, not a defense against it, because merging or altering the existed title and defense against the title were based on opposite factual bases. For merging the title, the trial Court had **no finding and conclusion** on if the merger is counterclaim, or affirmative defense, though the Opinion believes the merger was an affirmative defense by the statement from Smirnova's Brief, as sole reason for awarding attorney fees.

1) Because no statute authorizes merger doctrine attorney fees and the mergers in this case [CP 451, line 20] (the mergers were new theories, never used in merging title in WA) "the attorney fees **must** be segregated between those efforts for

which fees can be awarded and those for which fees are **not authorized**". Hume. Thus, affirming the attorney fees for the hours on mergers is conflict with Hume. Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), review is proper.

2) Undoubtedly, the hours on mergers in this case was unproductive or unsuccessful or unnecessary (together as: "wasted"), because without spending those hours on the mergers, there would be no difference, by Smirova's story of "original fence". Thus, affirming the "wasted" hours in this section is in **conflict** with Chuong Van Pham because "these hours were unnecessarily expended, unproductive, or not sufficiently related to the successful claim". RAP 13.4(b)(1).

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