FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/8/2024 1:19 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102683-8

SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JINRU BIAN, a married man,

Petitioner,

v.

OLGA SMIRNOVA, a married woman,

Respondent.

OLGA SMIRNOVA'S ANSWER TO JINRU BIAN'S CORRECTED PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Seth A. Woolson, WSBA No. 37973 T. Todd Egland, WSBA No. 48788 CSD ATTORNEYS AT LAW P.S. 1500 Railroad Avenue Bellingham, Washington 98225 Telephone: (360) 671-1796 Facsimile: (360) 671-3781 Attorneys for Respondent Olga Smirnova

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. This Court should not grant the Petition because Bian fails to satisfy any one of the four requirements for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Bian cannot satisfy any of the requirements set out by RAP 13.4(b) in order to warrant review. This Court accepts petitions for review under RAP 13.4(b) only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or⁵
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Petitioners "must demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of this court or another Court of Appeals decision, or that [they are] raising a significant

⁵ Bian does not appear to argue that a significant question of Constitutional law is at stake.

constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest."

In re Matter of Dove, 188 Wn. 2d 1008, 398 P.3d 1070 (2017).

Smirnova below addresses Bian's failure to satisfy any of these criteria.

1. The Court of Appeals' Opinion is in harmony with existing Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions.

The Opinion of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any decision by this Court or the appellate courts of this State, as the Court of Appeals properly applied existing state law.

(a) Standard of Review

Determining whether the award of attorneys' fees is proper is a two-step inquiry, and each step is subject to its own standard of review. *See Etheridge v. Hwang*, 20 P.3d 958, 966 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. I, Feb. 12, 2001) (awarding attorneys' fees for all claims because they all arose from the same core set of facts and relevant lease provision provided for fees to the prevailing party). First, the court looks to "whether the prevailing

party was entitled to attorney fees,⁶ and second, whether the award of fees is reasonable." *Id.* at 966. Moreover, "[w]hether a party is entitled to attorney fees is an issue of law which is reviewed de novo...[w]hether the amount of fees awarded was reasonable is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard." *Id.* In granting an award for attorneys' fees "[a] trial judge is given broad discretion in determining the reasonableness of an award, and in order to reverse that award, it must be shown that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion." *Id.*

- (b) The trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding the attorneys' fees.
 - (i) Contrary to the assertions of Bian, the Trial Court explicitly entered on the record findings of fact and conclusions of law justifying the fee award in this case.

Bian's primary argument is that the trial court failed to make findings of fact and conclusions of law supporting its

⁶ The Court of Appeals and this Court have already ruled that Smirnova is entitled to an award of her attorneys' fees and costs under RCW 7.28.030(3), satisfying the first step in the two-step inquiry.

determination to award Smirnova her attorneys' fees and costs, or that the trial court's ruling is somehow "inconsistent" with the Court of Appeal's October 18, 2021, Unpublished Opinion. These assertions are fundamentally untrue.

There is nothing in the trial court's rulings that conflicts with the Opinion of the Court of Appeals. First, in the trial court's Amended Order entered on October 28, 2022, the trial court explicitly states that "after considering all the facts, the Court has determined that such an award is equitable and just as required under RCW 7.28.030(3), and in accordance with the Opinion of the Court of Appeals." (CP 465). The trial court referenced and attached the prior Opinion of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court's Order Terminating Review, the Supreme Court's *Clerk's* Ruling Setting Amount of Attorneys' Fees and Expenses, and the Court of Appeals' Mandate to the trial court in making its ruling. (CP 463-465). The appellate court rulings were foremost in the mind of the parties and the trial court.

More importantly, the trial court made oral findings of fact and conclusions of law on the record at both the March 29, 2023, hearing on Bian's Motion for Discounting Hours and the April 14, 2023, hearing on entry of the Second Amended Judgment. (VRP1 at pp. 29-32; VRP2 at pp. 37-39). In those rulings, the trial court stated its grounds for determining that the attorneys' fees and costs award sought by Smirnova were both reasonable and "equitable and just" under RCW 7.28.030(3). These rulings followed no less than six separate hearings on the issue of attorneys' fees in this matter. In sum, the trial court "suppl[ied] findings of fact and conclusions of law sufficient to permit a reviewing court to determine why the trial court awarded the amount in question." SentinelC3, Inc. v. Hunt, 181 Wn.2d 127, 144, 331 P.3d 40, (2014) (citing Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wash.2d 398, 434-435, 957 P.2d 632 (1998)).

(ii) The trial court did not abuse its discretion because its award was reasonable and "equitable and just" under RCW 7.28.030(3).

Attorneys must provide "reasonable documentation of the work performed" when requesting attorneys' fees and costs. *Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*, 100 Wn.2d 581, 597 (1983). Notably, that "documentation need not be exhaustive or in minute detail." *Id.* Additionally, "where the attorneys in question have an established rate for billing clients, that rate will likely be a reasonable rate." *Id.* The billing entries for Smirnova's counsel in this matter are:

- Attached as **Exhibit 1** to the *Declaration of T. Todd Egland* filed in support of Smirnova's motion for fees on September 22, 2020 (CP 246-256).
- Attached as **Exhibit 6** to the *Second Supplemental Declaration of T. Todd Egland* filed in support of Smirnova's prior motion for fees on February 24, 2021 (CP 316-378).
- Attached as **Exhibit 5** to the *Declaration of T. Todd Egland in Support of Response to Motion for Discounting Hours* (CP 513-606).

"Reasonable" attorneys' fees are calculated using the lodestar method by multiplying "the number of hours reasonably expended by the reasonable hourly rate." *Chuong Van Pham v. City of Seattle, Seattle City Light*, 159 Wash.2d 527, 538, 151 P.3d 976 (2007). "The hours reasonably expended must be spent

on claims having a 'common core of facts and related legal theories." *Id.* (quoting *Martinez v. City of Tacoma*, 81 Wash.App. 228, 242–43, 914 P.2d 86 (1996)). "The court should discount hours spent on unsuccessful claims, duplicated or wasted effort, or otherwise unproductive time." *Id.* (quoting *Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*, 100 Wash.2d 581, 597, 675 P.2d 193 (1983)).

Based on the above, the trial court's award of attorneys' fees and costs was reasonable and "equitable and just." Smirnova has spent over five years of her life defending against this meritless action by Bian. Every court to review the facts and law in this case has ruled in her favor. The trial court has awarded her the attorneys' fees and costs incurred in this litigation three times, and the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court have both ruled in her favor. Smirnova has been forced to respond, through her attorneys to each of Bian's failed attempts to achieve a different result (and, indeed, will not recover a large amount of the attorneys' fees she has expended in the Court of Appeals in

ANSWER TO CORRECTED
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW – 19

this matter). This has necessarily led to a substantial accumulation of attorneys' fees and costs entirely of Bian's making. It is only equitable and just that Bian bears the burden of that cost and reimburse Smirnova for these fees and costs.

(c) Smirnova is entitled to an award of all her attorneys' fees and costs incurred in this action because this case was solely devoted to Bian's adverse possession claim.

Bian has repeatedly argued, and argues here on appeal, that because this case was dismissed, for lack of prosecution by Bian, and then re-filed, that such re-filing prevented him from submitting evidence from the 2018 case in the re-filed 2020 case—that discovery and evidence developed in that 2018 case was somehow "inaccessible to the courts." This is wrong. All prior discovery and evidence were equally available to the parties during the 2020 case as they were in the 2018 case. There is no court rule or statutory provision that excludes facts and evidence from a prior case where the exact same claims are asserted. Bian failed to timely prosecute the case, so the Whatcom County

Superior Court Clerk dismissed it. Had there been additional evidence gleaned from the 2018 case that Bian desired to submit in his motion for summary judgment, he could have done so. He did not and cannot use that as a basis to reduce Smirnova's fee award. The trial court heard argument, and considered and rejected this issue at the hearing on Bian's Motion for Discounting Hours. (VRP1 at pp. 14:24-7:24; 30:17-31:19).

This case was an adverse possession case. Bian's trespass, unjust enrichment, and injunctive relief causes of action were each predicated on the success of Bian's claim for adverse possession. As such, insignificant time was dedicated to addressing Bian's trespass and unjust enrichment claims in the briefs of the parties. In fact, Bian moved for partial summary judgment solely on his claim for adverse possession. There is no need to segregate time incurred litigating the trespass and unjust enrichment causes of action, nor is there any basis for excluding fees incurred dealing with procedural matters (such as Bian allowing the original case to be dismissed) solely caused by Bian

ANSWER TO CORRECTED
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW – 21

or his counsel. The trial court quite reasonably concluded the same. (VRP1 at pp. 30:17-31:19).

Bian also makes the non-sensical argument that Smirnova "litigated" a counterclaim for merger and is, therefore, not entitled to attorneys' fees for "litigating" that claim. Smirnova asserted no counterclaims in this case. Smirnova filed an answer asserting affirmative defenses, including an affirmative defense to Bian's adverse possession claim based on the merger of title doctrine (CP 7-12). Bian cites no law that provides for the conversion of an affirmative defense to a counterclaim in order to justify the denial of attorneys' fees and costs. This is a preposterous argument to make and should be rejected.

In sum, the Verbatim Report of Proceedings, Vols. 1 and 2, as well as the general history of this case, show that Bian was given every opportunity to dispute the attorneys' fees and costs sought by Smirnova. As noted by the trial court, despite repeated opportunities to do so, Bian failed to meet his obligation "to identify specifically with objections to essentially line items in

ANSWER TO CORRECTED
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW – 22

the bill." (VRP1 at p. 29). In this appeal, Bian similarly fails to provide any such specific objections. It was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to enter the *Second Amended Judgment* awarding Smirnova her attorneys' fees and costs as requested.

2. This case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

Finally, the lawsuit does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. *See, e.g., State v. Watson*, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (finding a decision concerning validity of a sentencing memorandum of substantial public interest when it had the immediate potential to affect all sentencing hearings in Pierce County); *see also In re Adoption of T.A.W.*, 184 Wn. 2d 1040, 387 P.3d 626 (2016) (finding an issue of substantial public importance in determining the scope of the ability to terminate parental rights pertaining to Native American tribes). Here, the Court of Appeals applies the law applicable to fee awards in a straightforward manner to the narrow set of facts on the record. Bian's Petition focuses on how the Opinion will impact him (i.e.,

violate Due Process, etc.), but does not discuss a broader public interest. As such, the Opinion is relevant to the particular dispute between Bian and Smirnova, and not some greater substantial public interest.

The Court should deny the Petition because it does not meet RAP 13.4(b)'s requirements for review. Smirnova should also be granted an award attorneys' fees and costs incurred in responding to this Petition for Review under RCW 7.28.083(3) and RAP 18.1(j).

B. Smirnova is entitled to interest on the Second Amended Judgment in accordance with RCW 4.56.110(6).

RCW 4.56.110 governs the accrual of interest on judgments. Subsection 6 of RCW 4.56.110 provides that:

[J]udgments shall bear interest from the date of entry at the maximum rate permitted under RCW 19.52.020 on the date of entry thereof. In any case where a court is directed on review to enter judgment on a verdict or in any case where a judgment entered on a verdict is wholly or partly affirmed on review, interest on the judgment or on that portion of the judgment affirmed shall date back to and shall accrue from the date the verdict was rendered.

The Court of Appeals in its Unpublished Opinion in this case affirmed that Smirnova was entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs under RCW 7.28.030(3). (CP 407). The Court of Appeals only remanded for the trial court to "independently determine if the amount Smirnova requested was equitable and just." (CP 408). The trial court had no discretion to deny Smirnova an award of attorneys' fees and costs, but was instead tasked with justifying its award. Any accrual of interest, therefore, should run from the date of the Original Judgment on March 19, 2021.

The Second Amended Judgment lays out in detail the calculation of interest on each of the judgments entered in this case. (CP 635-636). Smirnova was careful to calculate for each period and to give credit to Bian for the payment of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000.00) on December 27, 2022, which was the catalyst for providing a calculation of interest in the Second Amended Judgment in the first place, as no such calculation was even necessary. Smirnova simply wanted to

ANSWER TO CORRECTED
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW – 25

make sure that the *Second Amended Judgment* accurately reflected payments received and to minimize the accrual of interest. Indeed, the provision of interest at 12% per annum was featured in EACH of the judgments entered in this case and Bian did not object to the inclusion of interest on the judgments until Smirnova submitted the *Second Amended Judgment* for hearing on April 14, 2023.

The Court of Appeals in its Opinion below did not agree with this reasoning. Instead, it noted that "we did not modify the fee award and remand for the trial court to simply follow our mandate. Instead, we authorized the trial court to exercise its discretion and determine what amount of Smirnova's fee request was equitable and just. As a result, interest should accrue from the date of the new money judgment." Opinion at p. 3. The Court of Appeals cited to *Fisher Props, Inc. v. Arden-Mayfair, Inc.*⁷ and *Fulle v. Boulevard Excavating, Inc.*⁸ in support of its ruling.

-

⁷ 115 Wn.2d 364, 798 P.2d 799 (1990).

⁸ 25 Wn.App. 520, 610 P.2d 387 (1980).

But, interpreting RCW 4.56.110 in this way creates a gaping hole in the attorneys' fee award scheme where a defendant can "win" at every single stage of the litigation on every substantive issue and still "lose" by being denied interest on that original successful defense of the judgment (or in fact, as below, denied attorneys' fees entirely for successfully defeating an appeal). Bian lost this case in August 2020 with the Original Judgment entered in March 2021. Interest should accrue from that date and not from entry of the Second Amended Judgment in April 2023. To do otherwise is not "equitable and just."

V. CONCLUSION

This Petition should be denied because Bian fails to satisfy the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). If Bian's Petition is granted, Smirnova asks that the Court grant review of the Court of Appeals decision to deny interest from the date of the Original Judgment. Smirnova should also be granted an award attorneys' fees and costs incurred in responding to this Petition for Review under RCW 7.28.083(3) and RAP 18.1(j).

ANSWER TO CORRECTED
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW – 27